## MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE HELD ON 19<sup>th</sup> MARCH, 2020 AT NELSON TOWN HALL

Councillor M. Iqbal (Chairman – in the Chair)

#### **Councillors**

M. R. Arshad

A. Mahmood

M. Aslam (Substitute)

T. Whipp (Substitute)

(In response to advice from Government regarding Coronavirus (COVID-19) it had been agreed that the meeting be held just in quorate. Therefore apologies for absence were received from Councillors D. Clegg, M. Foxley, P. Foxley, M. Goulthorp, J. Henderson, Y Iqbal, B. Newman and J. Nixon).

#### Officers in attendance:

Dean Langton Chief Executive
Philip Mousdale Corporate Director

Neil Watson Planning, Economic Development and Regulatory Services Manager

Lynne Rowland Committee Administrator

\*\*\*\*

The following person attended the meeting and spoke on the item indicated:

Rachel Slater 19/0767/OUT Outline: Major: Demolition of existing Minute No. 156(c)

farm buildings and erection of up to 55,750 sq.m. of commercial development, comprising B1a/b, B1c, B2, B8 and A1 (Food)/A3/A5 uses (access only off

Barrowford Road with all other matters reserved) at Wheatley Laithe Farm, Barrowford Road, Fence for

Pendle Business Park Ltd.

\*\*\*\*

### 153. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

Members were reminded of the requirements of the Member Code of Conduct concerning the declaration of interests.

154. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

There were no questions from members of the public.

155. MINUTES

**RESOLVED** 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 13<sup>th</sup> February, 2020 be agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

## 156. PLANNING APPLICATIONS

(a) 19/0620/FUL Full: Major: Erection of 12 semi-detached dwellings and associated hardstanding and landscaping on land to the west of the playing fields, Bailey Street, Earby for PEARL Together Ltd

It was reported that consideration of this item had been deferred in agreement with the applicant.

(b) 19/0892/FUL Full: Change of use of ground floor from residential (Use Class C3) to mixed use residential and barbers shop (Use Classes C3 and A1) and insertion of shop front and shutters at 148 Railway Street, Nelson for Mr M. W. Akram

At a meeting of the Nelson Committee on 2<sup>nd</sup> March, 2020 the decision to approve this application was referred as a recommendation to this Committee as the decision would be a significant departure from policy.

#### **RESOLVED**

That planning permission be **granted** subject to the following conditions –

1. The proposed development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

**Reason:** Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans: Location Plan (1:1250), Site Plan (1:500) and 099/11/19/148/@A1.

**Reason:** For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Prior to the installation of the shopfront samples of the external materials to be used shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter proceed in strict accordance with the approved details.

**Reason:** To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interest of visual amenity.

**4.** No external security shutters shall be installed at the premises at any time.

**Reason:** To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of visual amenity.

### REASON

Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Subject to appropriate conditions, the development would be

acceptable in terms of design, residential amenity and highways. The development therefore complies with the development plan. There is a positive presumption in favour of approving the development and there are no material reasons to object to the application.

(c) 19/0767/OUT Outline: Major: Demolition of existing farm buildings and erection of up to 55,750 sq.m. of commercial development, comprising B1a/b, B1c, B2, B8 and A1 (Food)/A3/A5 Uses (access only off Barrowford Road with all other matters reserved) at Wheatley Laithe Farm, Barrowford Road, Fence for Pendle Business Park Ltd

At a meeting of the Barrowford and Western Parishes Committee on 5<sup>th</sup> March, 2020 the decision to refuse this application was referred as a recommendation to this Committee as the decision represented a significant risk of costs being awarded against the Council in the event of an appeal.

The Planning, Economic Development and Regulatory Services Manager submitted an update which reported on further comments received. The Committee was advised that, after further discussions with the applicant, minor alterations had been made to the conditions. These reflected that the site would be developed in phases and allowed information to be submitted according to the needs of each phase.

### **RESOLVED**

That planning permission be **granted** subject to the following conditions and subject to a Section 106 agreement being completed first –

1. An application for approval of the reserved matters (namely the layout, appearance, landscaping and scale of the site) shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission and the development hereby permitted must be begun two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.

**Reason:** This condition is required to be imposed by the provisions of Article 3 (1) of the Town and Country Planning (General Development Procedure) Order 1995 and Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. Details of the layout, appearance, landscaping and scale (hereinafter called the 'reserved matters') shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before any development begins and the development shall be carried out as approved.

**Reason:** In order to comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

3. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans:

1:2500 2071 2000 and 19046001a.

**Reason:** For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

4. Except for the construction of the access and roundabout no other development shall commence unless and until a plan and written-brief detailing the proposed phasing of the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include details of the works involved in each phase and how each phase is to be completed in terms of the completion of roads, building operations, foul and surface water sewers, appropriate noise mitigation measures and landscaping, each phase shall be substantially completed before the next successive phase of the development is commenced. The approved scheme shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with the plan and brief.

**Reason**: To secure the proper development of the site in an orderly manner.

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) the use of the units hereby approved shall be limited to the following Use Classes:

```
A1 – 150 sq.m.

A3 – 150 sq.m.

A5 – 150 sq.m.

B1(b and c) – 11,000 sq.m.

B2 – 11150 sq.m.

B8 – 33450 sq.m.
```

unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

**Reason:** To control the amount of each proposed use on the site in the interests of highway safety and to exclude B1(a) development that should be the subject of a planning application and sequential test.

- 6. Prior to the commencement of development the applicant shall have submitted to and have agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority a method statement which sets out in detail the method, standards and timing for the investigation and subsequent remediation of any contamination which may be present on site. The method statement shall detail how:
  - a) an investigation and assessment to identify the types, nature and extent of land contamination affecting the application site together with the risks to receptors and potential for migration within and beyond the site will be carried out by an appropriately qualified geotechnical professional (in accordance with a methodology for investigations and assessments which shall comply with BS 10175:2001) will be carried out and the method of reporting this to the Local Planning Authority; and
  - b) A comprehensive remediation scheme which shall include an implementation timetable, details of future monitoring and a verification methodology (which shall include a sampling and analysis programme to confirm the adequacy of land decontamination) will be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

All agreed remediation measures shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved implementation timetable under the supervision of a geotechnical professional and

shall be completed in full accordance with the agreed measures and timings, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

In addition, prior to commencing construction of any building, the developer shall first submit to and obtain written approval from the Local Planning Authority a report to confirm that all the agreed remediation measures have been carried out fully in accordance with the agreed details, providing results of the verification programme of post-remediation sampling and monitoring and including future monitoring proposals for the site.

**Reason:** In order to ensure the site is not contaminated to protect public health.

- 7. No part of the development shall be commenced unless and until a Construction Code-of-Practice method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The code shall include details of the measures envisaged during construction to manage and mitigate the main environmental effects of the relevant phase of the development. The submitted details shall include within its scope but not be limited to:
  - a) A programme of works including phasing, hours of operation and measures for the control of traffic to and from the site, and within the site, during construction;
  - b) The areas and methods of loading and unloading of plant and materials;
  - c) The areas for the storage of plant and materials;
  - d) Location and details of site compounds;
  - e) Compliance with BS5228: Part 1 1997 to minimise noise;
  - f) An overall Construction Monitoring programme, to include reporting mechanisms and appropriate redress if targets/standards breached;
  - g) Parking area(s) for construction traffic and personnel;
  - h) Details of the provision and use of wheel washing on the site; and
  - i) Site security.

The Construction Code-of-Practice should be compiled in a coherent and integrated document and should be accessible to the site manager(s), all contractors and subcontractors working on site. As a single point of reference for site environment management, the CCP should incorporate all agreed method statements, such as the Site Waste Management Plan and Demolition Method Statement. All works agreed as part of the plan shall be implemented during an agreed timescale and where appropriate maintained as such thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

**Reason:** To ensure that adequate measures are in place to protect the environment during the construction phase(s).

**8.** Foul and surface water shall be drained on separate systems. Where drainage infrastructure connects development from different phases it will be necessary to show how much development will be served by the connecting infrastructure.

**Reason:** To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding and pollution.

9. The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations detailed within the revised Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (project no. 19056) by Dudleys Structural & Civil Consultants, updated March, 2020.

These measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

**Reason:** To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory disposal of surface water from the site and to ensure that there is no flood risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed development.

**10.** No development shall commence unless and until details of the design and implementation of an appropriate surface water drainage scheme, including any proposals to develop in phases, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Those details shall include:

- a) A final surface water drainage layout plan; appropriately labelled to include all pipe/structure references, dimensions, design levels, finished floor levels and external ground levels (in AOD);
- b) A full set of flow calculations for the surface water drainage network. The calculations must show the full network design criteria, pipeline schedules and simulation outputs for the 1 in 1 year, 1 in 30 year and 1 in 100 year return period, plus a 30% allowance for climate change. The calculations must also demonstrate that after development, surface water runoff will not exceed the existing greenfield runoff rates and volumes for the corresponding rainfall intensity;
- c) A final site plan showing all on-site surface water catchment areas, i.e. areas that will contribute to the proposed surface water drainage network;
- d) A final site plan showing all overland flow routes and flood water exceedance routes, both on and off site;
- e) Details of how surface water will be managed within any non-drained areas of the site, i.e. grassed areas and areas of public open space;
- f) Details of any measures taken to prevent flooding and pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters, including watercourses; and
- g) Details of an appropriate management and maintenance plan for the surface water drainage network over the lifetime of the development.

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details, including phasing, prior to first occupation of any of the approved buildings, or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner. Thereafter the drainage system shall be retained, managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details.

**Reason:** To ensure that the proposed development can be adequately drained, that there is no flood risk on or off the site resulting from the proposed development, that water quality is not detrimentally impacted by the development proposal and that appropriate maintenance mechanisms are put in place for the lifetime of the development.

11. No development shall commence unless and until details of how surface water and pollution prevention will be managed during each construction phase have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority;

**Reason:** to ensure that the construction phase(s) of development does not pose an undue flood risk on site or elsewhere and to ensure that any pollution arising from the development as a result of the construction works does not adversely impact on existing or proposed ecological or geomorphic condition of water bodies.

12. No development shall commence unless and until a scheme, including full engineering, drainage, street lighting and constructional details and timetable of implementation for the temporary construction site access, new roundabout on A6068 and off-site highway works has be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall include the following and shall be fully implemented in accordance with the approved scheme prior to the first occupation of any building on site.

The off-site highway works shall include:

- A new roundabout designed to TD16/07 at the site access on A6068.
- Provision for cycle by-pass on the north side at the new roundabout.
- A reduction in the speed limit on the A6068 from 50mph to 40mph from the existing 40mph speed limit terminal sited 450m to the east of the site access to a point west of the new roundabout.
- A new street lighting scheme from the existing 40mph speed limit terminal sited 450m to the east of the site access to a point west of the new roundabout.
- Widen the existing footway on the south side of the A6068 to create a 3m wide (where achievable) shared pedestrian/cycle route between Churchill Road and the site access.

The above works shall be provided and completed in their entirety prior to the first occupation of any unit on site.

The following works shall be provided in their entirety prior to more than 9,290m<sup>2</sup>. of floorspace being completed on the site:

- Upgrade of the 2 nearest bus stops on the A6068.
- Upgrade of public footpath 110 or 111 to link pedestrians and cyclists from the development site to Churchill Way on Lomeshaye Ind. Estate.
- Upgrade of public footpath 111 to link pedestrians and cyclists from the development site to Barrowford Road A6068.

**Reason:** To ensure that the development does not result in any adverse impact on the highway network and to improve sustainable transport modes to and within the site.

13. The new estate road shall be constructed in accordance with the Lancashire County Council Specification for Construction of Estate Roads to at least base course level to each phase before any development commences on that phase. The final wearing course shall be completed to each unit within 1 year of the substantial completion of each unit, or within 1 month of the substantial completion of the phase of development or within one month of the substantial completion of the final unit on site whichever shall occur first unless another timescale is agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If an alternative timescale is agreed the completion of the highway shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the agreed timescale.

**Reason:** To ensure that satisfactory access is provided to the site before construction of the development hereby permitted commences.

14. The use of each unit shall not be commenced unless and until a Travel Plan for the user/s of that unit has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall include measures for the management of car use and on-site car parking and a strategy to secure and sustain decreases in car use for travel to, from and at work and increases in car sharing, public transport use, cycling and walking. The unit shall thereafter be at all times operated in accordance with the approved Travel Plan.

**Reason:** In order to mitigate transport impacts of development and promote sustainable transport.

15. Unless approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority no ground clearance, demolition, changes of level or development or development-related work shall commence until protective fencing, in full accordance with BS 5837: 2012 has been erected around each tree/tree group or hedge to be preserved on the site or on immediately adjoining land, and no work shall be carried out on the site until the written approval of the Local Planning Authority has been issued confirming that the protective fencing is erected in accordance with this condition. Within the areas so fenced, the existing ground level shall be neither raised nor lowered. Roots with a diameter of more than 25 millimetres shall be left unsevered. There shall be no construction work, development or development-related activity of any description, including the deposit of spoil or the storage of materials within the fenced areas. The protective fencing shall thereafter be maintained during the period of construction.

All works involving excavation of soil, including foundations and the laying of services, within the recommended distance calculated under the BS 5837 (2012) of the trees to be retained on the site, shall be dug by hand and in accordance with a scheme of works which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the commencement of works.

**Reason:** To prevent trees or hedgerows on site from being damaged during building works.

16. Prior to the commencement of development a plan detailing the extent of the southern phase shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No development shall commence in the southern phase unless and until appropriate mitigation measures, including restricting the heights of the ridges of the buildings, fixing AOD land levels and the provision of bunds, tree planting and buffers to the southern boundary have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Once approved the development shall at all times thereafter fully comply with the details so approved.

**Reason:** In order to mitigate against the potential landscape impact and ensure an acceptable scheme when viewed from public vantage points.

17. Except for the construction of the access and roundabout no other development shall commence unless and until details of the Zone 2 planting scheme to the southern boundary, including timing, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall then be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved details and timings.

**Reason:** In order to mitigate against the potential landscape impact and ensure an acceptable scheme when viewed from public vantage points.

- 18. Prior to the commencement of development (including infrastructure and groundworks) an overarching Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: biodiversity) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The overarching plan can contain proposals for each of the phases agreed under condition 4. The CEMP will take account of specific ecological mitigation measures. It shall include the following measures:
  - a. Procedures for site clearance and specification for ecological fencing (e.g. woodland, tree and hedgerow protection zones) and protective fencing to be installed along the boundaries to the site to prevent badgers from entering the site;
  - b. Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities
  - c. Identification of biodiversity protection zones
  - d. The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works
  - e. The role of a responsible person and lines of communication;
  - f. Control of construction lighting to avoid areas near potential bat roost trees and along hedgerow corridors
  - g. Details of new and existing habitat areas
  - h. The erection of exclusion fencing and warning signs around trees (including potential bat roost trees) and lengths of hedgerows to be retained
  - i. Trees with bat roost potential will be subject to a roost survey and precautionary measures shall be employed prior to any felling/pruning works being undertaken; and
  - j. Details of Pollution Prevention Guidelines to help ensure that damage and pollution does not occur to the watercourses in and adjacent to the site.

Each phase of the development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the approved strategy.

Site clearance will be undertaken between October to February only. Any works between March and September will only be carried out following an on-site check for nesting birds by an experienced ecologist. If nesting birds are found then work will cease on site.

**Reason:** In order to ensure the site is developed in a way that minimises pollution impacts and impacts on neighbours and the highway network.

**19.** Prior to the commencement of development (including infrastructure and groundworks) an overarching General Dust Management Plan (GDMP), which can include proposals for each phase of development, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The GDMP shall include the following measures:

- a. Record all dust and air quality complaints and take appropriate measures to reduce emissions:
- b. Record any exceptional incidents that cause dust off site;
- c. Ensure an adequate supply of water is available on site for effective dust suppression;
- d. Use enclosed chutes and conveyors and cover kits;
- e. Impose a site speed limit of 10mph;
- f. Ensure all vehicle engines are switched off when stationary;
- g. Plant and machinery will be located as far away from receptors as possible; h. Erect fine mesh barriers around dust activities near to the site boundary;

- i. Enclose specific operations where there is a high potential for dust production; j. Mitigate site runoff of water or mud;
- k. Keep site fencing, barriers and scaffolding clean using wet methods; and
- I. Remove material that has the potential to produce dust from the site as soon as possible.

To mitigate against the impacts of earthworks throughout the construction stage measures will be put in place, and these will include: re-vegetating earthworks and soil stockpiles to stabilise the surface; stockpiles will be covered if not vegetated; avoid double handling of material; and ceasing operations during high winds in the direction of sensitive receptors. Sand and other aggregates will be stored in bunded areas and will not be allowed to dry out. To reduce the impact from construction traffic the following methods will be implemented:

- a. Use water assisted dust sweepers on the access and local roads to remove materials;
- b. Avoid dry sweeping large areas;
- c. Ensure vehicles entering and leaving site are covered to prevent escape of materials during transportation;
- d. Wheel washing facilities; and
- e. The site access gate will be located at least 10m from receptors, where possible.

All non-road mobile machinery shall be well maintained and stopped immediately if a fault is identified. All machinery should use fuel equivalent to ultralow sulphur diesel, should comply with EU Directive Staged Emission Standards and be fitted with Diesel Particulate Filters. When in operation, the machinery should be used in accordance with fuel conservation measures.

Each phase of the development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the approved strategy.

**Reason:** To ensure protection of the adjacent Ancient Woodland (BHS) and habitats on or adjacent to the site.

**20.** Prior to the commencement of development (including infrastructure and groundworks) an overarching Biodiversity Enhancement & Management Plan (BEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The overarching plan can propose measures to deal with each phase of development.

The BEMP shall include the following measures:

- a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed and enhanced. b) Extent and location/area of proposed enhancement works on appropriate scale maps and plans
- c) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management
- d) Aims and Objectives of management
- e) Appropriate management Actions for achieving Aims and Objectives
- f) An annual work programme (to cover an initial 5-year period)
- g) Details of the specialist ecological management body or organisation responsible for implementation of the Plan
- h) Ongoing monitoring programme and remedial measures
- i) For each of the first 5 years of the Plan, a progress report sent to the LPA reporting on progress of the annual work programme and confirmation of required Actions for the next 12-month period
- i) The Plan will be reviewed and updated every 5 years and implemented for perpetuity

The BEMP shall also include details of:

- the native floral species to be planted, an evaluation of the areas to undergo habitat creation or enhancement and an annual work programme;
- retention of the intact hedgerow along the northern boundary to support nesting and breeding hedgehogs.
- ensure minimal light spill onto retained hedgerow during the construction and operational phases.
- fencing of boundary features will include hedgehog holes to facilitate the movement of commuting and foraging throughout the site; and
- provision for the type and location of a range of faunal boxes, including those for bird, bat and invertebrate species.

Each phase of the development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the approved strategy.

**Reason:** To ensure protection of habitats on or adjacent to the site.

21. Prior to the commencement of any development a lighting strategy including type, size, location, intensity and direction of the proposed external lighting for the development shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The lighting strategy can propose a method to deal with individual phases of the development. Any lighting provided shall at all times be in strict accordance with the approved details. Any lighting should seek to minimise glare, consider species on or adjacent to the site and avoid unnecessary light pollution by ensuring that the level of luminance is appropriate for the site.

**Reason:** In order to prevent unacceptable levels of light pollution and potential impact on species within or adjacent to the site.

22. No demolition shall take place until the implementation of a programme of archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a written scheme of investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The recording shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and timescales.

**Reason:** In order to provide an accurate historic record of the site by a competent person prior to demolition of the building.

23. The submission of any Reserved Matters shall be in full accordance with the Design Framework & Design Code, Pendle Business Park by KPP Architects dated September, 2019.

**Reason:** In order to ensure an acceptable form of development.

24. The submission of any Reserved Matters for Use Class B2 Industrial uses shall identify any potential noise issues and proposed mitigation measures to be implemented to prevent any of the identified potential noise nuisance from occurring.

**Reason:** In order to ensure an acceptable form of development and reduce the potential for noise impacts within and adjacent to the site.

- 25. Prior to the commencement of development within any phase of the development, with the exception of the construction of the vehicular access and service infrastructure, full details of how Public Rights of Way will be retained, and/or realigned across the entire site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include:
  - (a) All road crossing points and their infrastructure for walkers and cyclists;
  - (b) The locations and details of all interfaces between PROW, cycle routes and the adopted highway;
  - (c) The proposed design standards for the Public Rights of Way and cycle routes including materials, sight lines, desire lines and road markings; and
  - (d) The design and layout of the route to the southern side of the site, how it connects to any existing PROW.

**Reason:** To ensure the connections provided by existing Public Rights of Way are retained and improved across the site.

26. No development of a phase shall take place until an implementation programme for the landscape proposals for that phase have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All hard and soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, approved implementation programme and British Standard BS 4428:1989 Code of Practice for General Landscape Operations. The developer shall complete the approved landscaping works and confirm this in writing to the Local Planning Authority prior to the date agreed in the implementation programme.

**Reason:** To ensure the provision and establishment of acceptable landscape.

27. A landscape management plan for all phases, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to first occupation or use of that phase. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved and all landscaping shall be maintained in full as set out in the approved scheme

**Reason:** To ensure successful aftercare of landscaping is provided in the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity.

## **Notes**

- 1. The grant of planning permission will require the applicant to enter into an appropriate Legal Agreement, with the County Council as Highway Authority. The Highway Authority hereby reserves the right to provide the highway works within the highway associated with this proposal. Provision of the highway works includes design, procurement of the work by contract and supervision of the works. The applicant should be advised to contact the contact the Environment Directorate for further information by telephoning the Developer Support Section (Area East) on 0300 123 6780, or email developeras@lancashire.gov.uk.
- 2. This development may not take place unless the affected footpaths are diverted in accordance with Section 257 of the Highways Act 1980. A separate application to the Council to make an order under these powers will be required. Apart from footpaths which are temporarily closed under a temporary traffic regulation order various offences may be committed for obstructing or disturbing the surface of a footpath. The developer needs to ensure that the any right of way which has been temporarily closed is available for public use as soon as the temporary closure period ends.

## 157. MATTERS REQUIRING FINANCIAL APPROVAL

The Chief Executive submitted a report which sought approval for an increase in the amount of loan to the Peter Birtwistle Trust which would enable them to acquire the development of the former Health Centre in Colne.

In July 2019 the Committee approved a loan of £365,000 to the Trust and granted delegated authority to the Corporate Director to agree the terms of the loan etc.

Following a review of the project costs and the availability of other funding, the Trust had now requested a loan of £525,000 (an increase of £160,000).

Committee were advised that the Trust had offered to provide adequate collateral for the loan.

### **RESOLVED**

- (1) That in place of the previous approvals, a loan of £525,000 to the Peter Birtwistle Trust be approved to enable them to acquire the development of the former Health Centre in Colne.
- (2) That delegated authority be granted to the Corporate Director to negotiate and agree the the terms of the loan including any collateral necessary to underwrite the repayment of the loan.

#### REASON

To facilitate the redevelopment of the former Health Centre in Colne.

# 158. LOMESHAYE EXTENSION – PHASE 1 PURCHASE OF ADDITIONAL LAND

The Housing, Health and Engineering Services Manager submitted a report which sought approval for the Council to acquire additional land outside of the Lomeshaye Extension Phase 1 Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) boundary.

As part of negotiations, one of the affected landowners had asked the Council to acquire all of their land on the basis that it would be uneconomical for them to farm the retained area of land. Officers felt that this was reasonable and the costs could be absorbed within the funding available for Lomeshaye Phase 1.

## **RESOLVED**

- (1) That the acquisition of the land outside of the Lomeshaye Industrial Estate Extension Phase 1 CPO boundary, as shown on the plan attached to the report, be agreed.
- (2) That delegated authority be granted to the Chief Executive to agree the land value.

### **REASONS**

(1) The land outside of the CPO boundary would be uneconomical for the current owner to farm. The Council wish to improve footpaths which run through this land and there would be some benefits to the Council owning it.

## (2) To agree the value of the land to be acquired.

## 159. LOMESHAYE EXTENSION PHASE 1 – ESIF BID PROPOSED DEDICATION OF FOOTPATHS TO BRIDLEWAY

The Housing, Health and Engineering Services Manager submitted a report requesting authorisation for the Head of Legal Services to enter into an agreement with all Freehold properties on the proposed new bridleway route as shown on the plan attached to the report. This was required under Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980.

The proposal was to convert existing footways to bridleways which would make it easier for employees to access the estate by bike and on foot as well as creating a circular leisure route with links to Pendle's countryside.

### **RESOLVED**

That delegated authority be granted to the Head of Legal Services to allow the Council to enter into an agreement with all Freehold properties on the proposed bridleway route, as shown on the plan attached to the report.

#### REASON

In order to dedicate the existing footpaths to bridleway signed Agreements were required with all of the Freehold landowners on the route under Section 25 of the Highways Act 1980. Section 25 was the creation of footpath (bridleway or restricted bridleway) by agreement.

## 160. LAND AT GREENFIELD ROAD, COLNE

The Chief Executive submitted a report which sought agreement to vary the restrictions on the use of areas of open space on land at Greenfield Road, Colne as shown on the plan attached to the report as Area A and Area B.

Following a resolution made at the January, 2020 meeting of this Committee to vary a restriction on the use of land at Area A, meetings had been held with the owner of the site, the Chief Executive and Group Leaders. The meetings had highlighted that the development of the site would require the restriction on the use of both areas of open space (and not just Area A) to be lifted and therefore a request had been received that the restrictions on Area B be varied.

The estimated value of the premium for Area A was £175k and Area B was £130k. The owner of the site was content to pay the full amount of premium (£305k) in return for the necessary variation to the terms agreed in the transfer.

## **RESOLVED**

- (1) That in relation to Area B shown on the plan attached to the report, the request for a variation to the terms agreed in the transfer in 2001 be agreed.
- (2) That subject to (a) above a premium of £305k be accepted for the variation to the terms agreed in the transfer in 2001 for both Area A and Area B, as shown on the plan attached

to the report.

## REASON

To realise a capital receipt from the variation to the transfer agreement and to facilitate the development of the site.

## 161. LAND AT HARRISON DRIVE, COLNE

The Housing, Health and Engineering Services Manager submitted a report which sought approval to dispose of land at Harrison Drive, Colne under a negotiated procedure for the development of affordable housing.

Planning permission had been granted in February this year for 79 houses and associated external works on this land, subject to a number of conditions. To keep legal costs down and support the scheme's viability it was proposed that Together Housing buy the land directly from the Council rather than the land being acquired by PEARL Together Ltd and the properties then sold to Together Housing on completion. Together Housing would then contract with PEARL Together to carry out the development.

#### **RESOLVED**

- (1) That the land at Harrison Drive, Colne, as shown on the plan attached to the report, be disposed of to Together Housing for the development of affordable housing by PEARL Together.
- (2) That the Corporate Director be authorised to approve the negotiated terms for the disposal of this site.

## REASON

To ensure the early development of the site for affordable housing grant.

## 162. INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICE

The Chief Executive submitted a report which outlined recent developments concerning the Council's Internal Audit Service and set out the options available to the Council to ensure the effective continuation of an Internal Audit function.

Currently the internal audit function comprised of one member of staff with additional support bought in externally. This was not sustainable for any length of time. Discussions had therefore taken place with local authority partners in an effort to collaborate the service but to no avail. In response the report recommended the Council outsource this function. If agreed, it was hoped that the incoming service provider would be appointed and operational during the second half of 2020.

### **RESOLVED**

- (1) That the Council outsources the provision of its Internal Audit function.
- (2) That the Chief Executive (as Section 151 Officer) be authorised to take the necessary

action, in compliance with relevant procurement regulations, to complete the above during 2020/2021.

(3) That a further report be presented to this Committee on the outcome resulting from (2) above.

#### REASON

To ensure the Council can maintain an effective internal audit function and remain compliant with statutory and regulatory requirements.

# 163. EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE LANCASHIRE PENSION FUND (2020/21-2022/23)

The Chief Executive submitted, for information, a report on the options (and discounts) on offer from the Lancashire Pension Fund for contribution payments due for the 2019 Triennial Valuation for the period 2020/21-2022/23 and advised of the option taken.

## 164. RECOMMENDED WRITE OFFS

The Revenues Manager, Liberata submitted a report recommending the write off of debts relating to Housing Benefit Overpayments, Council Tax, National Non-Domestic Rate and Sundry Income.

### **RESOLVED**

That the write off as irrecoverable the sums of £14,328.35 in respect of Housing Benefit Overpayments, £128,435.52 in respect of Council Tax, £107,827.70 in respect of Business Rates and £6,951.85 in respect of Sundry Income be agreed.

## REASON

The prudential and considered writing off of bad debts is an essential requirement for the efficient management of the debt recovery functions.

# 165. FIRST HOMES – CONSULTATION ON THE DESIGN AND DELIVERY OF FIRST HOMES

It was reported that the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government was seeking views on its First Homes Policy to deliver discounted homes for local people.

The Housing, Health and Engineering Services Manager submitted a report, with appendices, which set out the Council's proposed responses to consultation questions set in relation to the proposals. It was noted that the consultation would close on 3<sup>rd</sup> April, 2020 and considered both the design of the policy and options for its implementation.

The Committee was asked to consider the draft response which was attached to the report at Appendix 2.

## **RESOLVED**

That the response to the consultation attached to the report at Appendix 2 be forwarded as the

Council's response to the proposals by the Government.

### REASON

To ensure the Committee is updated regarding this new initiative launched by the Government; and to ensure the Council's views are considered as part of the consultation exercise.

166. TENDERS

The Corporate Director submitted, for information, a report on tenders which had been received and accepted. The report also referred to an exemption to the Council's Contract Procedure Rules in relation to the Global Resettlement Scheme.

## 167. CLIMATE EMERGENCY WORKING GROUP

## (a) Minutes

Minutes of a meeting of the Climate Emergency Working Group held on 10<sup>th</sup> February, 2020 were submitted for information. Committee's attention was drawn to a number of recommendations for their consideration.

#### **RESOLVED**

That the Minutes of a meeting of the Climate Emergency Working Group held on 10<sup>th</sup> February, 2020 be noted.

## (b) Climate Emergency Action Plan

The Chief Executive submitted a report which outlined progress to date on the Climate Emergency Declaration and to inform Committee of the Council's draft Climate Emergency Action Plan which was attached to the report at Appendix 1.

#### **RESOLVED**

That the Council's Climate Emergency Action Plan for 2020-2025 be endorsed.

## REASON

To aid delivery of the Council's Climate Emergency Declaration.